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INTRODUCTION 

  In filing her initial Complaint, Plaintiff Ashley Turner (“Turner” or “Plaintiff”) leapt to 

the conclusion that the Faber & Brand Defendants1 had engaged in a nefarious scheme of falsely 

telling her that she was being sued when she was not in an apparent effort to extract payment for 

her outstanding debts in violation of the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, 15 U..S.C. § 1692e 

(“FDCPA”).  Plaintiff based her conclusion on the mere fact that after receiving a mailed copy of 

a Warrant in Debt that had not been issued by the Clerk nor served by the Sheriff, her counsel 

appeared at the Dinwiddie General District Court on June 2, 2021, but her case was not called and 

it was not on the docket.  

 In response to Plaintiff’s initial Complaint, the Faber & Brand Defendants filed their 

Motion to Dismiss, and in so doing, they attached the letter from the Clerk of the Dinwiddie 

General District Court that proved the old adage: “things aren’t often what they seem… and 

absolutely not what you think.”  https://www.pinterest.com.  In that letter,2 the Clerk returned the 

Warrant in Debt and filing fee that the Faber & Brand Defendants had attempted to file with the 

Court with a letter stating that “[d]ue to the recent outbreak of the coronavirus,” the clerk’s office 

“has had to continue several cases to another docket.  At this time all dockets for the month of 

June, 2020 is closed.  Please select another Tuesday at 1:00 p.m. beyond the month listed above.” 

Exhibit 1.  (Exhibit 1 includes the letter and its enclosures.)   

 Rather than acknowledge the folly of her original Complaint, Plaintiff doubles down by 

continuing to insist on asserting the same legally flawed claims that she asserted in the original 

 
1 The “Faber & Brand Defendants” are Faber & Brand, LLC (“Faber & Brand”), Jared L. 
Buchanan (“Buchanan”), and Jeremy Forrest (“Forrest”). 
2 Plaintiff attaches the letter without its enclosures as an exhibit to her Amended Complaint.  
ECF 32-1. 
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Complaint, but now Plaintiff assumes that the Clerk’s letter was delivered by the mail to Faber & 

Brand before the June 2, 2020 return date (it was not), and asserts a legal duty that does not exist 

under the FDCPA – a debt collector must inform a consumer that its initial communication that 

was true when made has been rendered untrue by subsequent events.  That duty is not found 

anywhere in the FDCPA, or the common law.  Accordingly, even accepting Plaintiff’s flawed 

assumption, her amendment adds nothing to save her claims.   

The gist of Plaintiffs FDCPA claim is Plaintiff’s purported belief that after receiving the 

Warrant in Debt that had been mailed to her she believed she had been summoned to appear in 

court.  That purported belief fails the objective, least sophisticated consumer test because the face 

of the Warrant in Debt attached to the Amended Complaint reveals that the summons had not been 

issued.  The Warrant in Debt was not signed and dated by the Clerk.  Instead, the Warrant in Debt 

reveals that Jared Buchanan, who is the Hospital’s3 counsel, certified that he was simply mailing 

Plaintiff a copy of the Warrant in Debt.  This is accepted practice under Virginia law.   

Virginia law provides that a plaintiff may obtain a default judgment against a defendant 

that received substituted process, if the plaintiff, or its agent, mails a copy of the Warrant in Debt 

to the defendant and files with the court a certificate of such filing at least 10 days before obtaining 

the default judgment. Va. Code § 8.01-296(b). That section of the Code provides:  “In any civil 

action brought in a general district court, the mailing of the application for a warrant in debt . . ., 

whether yet issued by the court or not, which contains the date, time and place of the return, prior 

to or after filing such pleading in the general district court, shall satisfy the mailing requirements 

of this section.”   Id. (emphasis added).  Accordingly, under Virginia law, the Warrant in Debt may 

 
3 Petersburg Hospital Company, LLC d/b/a Southside Regional Medical Center (“Hospital”). 
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be mailed to the defendant before it is issued by the Clerk of the Court. That way, if the defendant 

does not appear in court on the return date, the plaintiff may obtain a default judgment.  

Here, Faber & Brand mailed the Warrant in Debt with the appropriate filing fee to the 

Clerk’s office.  Exhibit 2.  Under Virginia law, “[a] civil action on a warrant in a district court shall 

be deemed brought when the memorandum required by § 8.01-2904 is filed with the clerk, 

magistrate, or other officer authorized to issue warrants and the required fee is paid.” Va. Code § 

16.1-86.  However, after receiving the Warrant in Debt from Faber & Brand that properly identified 

Turner as the defendant to that action and after receiving the appropriate filing fee, the Clerk of 

the Dinwiddie General District Court did not treat the action as “filed,” but instead she returned 

the Warrant in Debt and filing fee to Faber & Brand. Exhibit 1; see also ECF 32-1.  The Clerk 

apparently returned the Warrant in Debt to Faber & Brand because Virginia law requires that the 

Warrant in Debt that is to be served on a defendant must “require the person against whom the 

claim is asserted to appear before the court on a certain date, not exceeding sixty days from the 

date of service thereof, to answer the complaint of the plaintiff set out in the warrant,” and those 

requirements could not be met due to the exigencies of the pandemic. See Va. Code § 16.1-79.   

However, by statute, the action had been brought when the Clerk received the Warrant in Debt.  

Thus, through no fault of Faber & Brand, the Dinwiddie General District Court Clerk did not issue 

the requested Warrant in Debt, nor did the Clerk’s office treat the action as being “filed,” when by 

law the action had been “brought” under Va. Code § 16.1-86.  

Accordingly, contrary to the assumptions and unsupported conclusions made by Plaintiff 

and her counsel, the Faber & Brand Defendants followed Virginia law by transmitting the Warrant 

 
4 Va. Code § 8.01-290 requires plaintiffs to furnish “in writing to the clerk or other issuing 
officer the full name and last known address of each defendant…” 
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in Debt to the Clerk with the appropriate filing fee and mailing a copy of the Warrant in Debt to 

Turner before it was issued by the Clerk.  Only the extraordinary circumstances created by the 

coronavirus pandemic thwarted issuance of the Warrant in Debt by the Clerk’s office.  In following 

Virginia law, the Faber & Brand Defendants also complied with the FDCPA, because they made 

no false, misleading or deceptive statement to Plaintiff. 

Subsequently, the Hospital, through its counsel Faber & Brand, has sought and obtained 

from the Dinwiddie General District Court Clerk’s office issuance of a Warrant in Debt against 

Turner for the same debt that is at issue in the original Warrant in Debt.  Exhibit 3.  Thus, as 

represented by the mailing of the Warrant in Debt, Faber & Brand is pursuing an action in General 

District Court on behalf of its client to collect the debt owed it by Plaintiff. 

 Accordingly, this Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint, with prejudice, under Rule 

12(b)(6).   

ALLEGATIONS  

 The following allegations are pertinent to the claims Plaintiff asserts against the Faber & 

Brand Defendants:   

Faber & Brand is a law firm located in Missouri that represents creditors, including 

hospitals, credit card companies, insurance companies, banks, and collection agencies. ECF 32 at 

¶ 7.  The Hospital retained Professional Account Services, Inc. (“PASI”) to collect medical debts 

for the Hospital, and PASI retained Faber & Brand.  Id. at ¶¶ 10-12.   

 Plaintiff received a Warrant In Debt, dated April 3, 2020, signed by Buchanan, who is a 

lawyer associated with Faber & Brand. Id. at ¶ 28.  The Warrant in Debt identifies the Hospital as 

the Plaintiff, and that the return date for the Warrant in Debt is June 2, 2020. ECF  32-1. The 
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Warrant in Debt contain a block where Buchanan certified that he had mailed the Warrant in Debt 

to the “defendant[],” who is the Plaintiff in this case.  Id.   

Upon receipt of the Warrant in Debt, Plaintiff retained counsel, who purportedly appeared 

on her behalf in Dinwiddie General District Court on June 2, 2020. ECF 32 at ¶¶ 28-29.  The 

General District Court called certain cases for the Hospital that were on the docket that day, but 

did not call the Plaintiff’s case. Id. at ¶¶ 33-35.  Forrest appeared at the June 2, 2020 return date 

on behalf of the Hospital.  Id. at ¶ 32.    

Plaintiff asserts that the Faber & Brand Defendants knew that the Dinwiddie General 

District Court had rejected the Warrant in Debt naming Plaintiff as a defendant because the court 

sent it back with a cover letter in the form attached as Exhibit B to the Amended Complaint.  Id. 

at ¶ 56, ECF 32-2.   Plaintiff asserts that the defendants did not notify Plaintiff that “no court case 

had been filed against them.”  Id. at ¶ 66.  

Plaintiff asserts two Counts against the Faber & Brand Defendants.  In Count I, Plaintiff 

asserts a claim for alleged violation of the FDPCA. In Count Four, Plaintiff also asserts a fraud 

claim against all defendants.   

LEGAL STANDARD 

To survive a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), the Complaint must state sufficient “facts to state 

a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 

(2007).  “Facial ‘plausibility’ lies on a spectrum between possibility and probability, and it is 

established when the court is able to draw a reasonable inference that the defendant may be liable 

for the conduct alleged.”  Barish-Stern Ltd. v. Town of Buchanan, Va., No. 7:14cv00181, 2014 

WL 6680692, at *3 (W.D. Va. Nov. 25, 2014).  “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of 

action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 
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678 (2009); see also Jesse v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., 882 F.Supp.2d 877, 879–80 (E.D. Va. 

2012) (dismissing an FDCPA claim on a 12(b)(6) motion where the complaint merely “recites the 

law with a bald assertion that the defendants violated it.”).  Rather, the “[f]actual allegations must 

be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555.  While 

the Court must accept as true Plaintiff’s well-pled factual allegations when assessing a motion to 

dismiss, such deference is “inapplicable to legal conclusions” contained in the Complaint.  Iqbal, 

556 U.S. at 678. Similarly, the Court “need not accept as true unwarranted inferences, 

unreasonable conclusions, or arguments.”  Eastern Shore Markets, Inc. v. J.D. Assoc. Ltd. P’ship, 

213 F.3d 175, 180 (4th Cir. 2000). 

In addition, Rule 9(b) requires that fraud claims must be pled with particularity.  Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 9(b).  “Mere allegations of ‘fraud by hindsight’ will not satisfy the requirements.”  Harrison 

v. Westinghouse Savannah River Co., 176 F.3d 776, 784 (4th Cir. 1999). 

In considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the district court may “properly take judicial notice 

of matters of public record.” Philips v. Pitt County Mem. Hosp., 572 F.3d 176, 180 (4th Cir. 

2009)(citing Hall v. Virginia, 385 F.3d 421, 424 (4th Cir. 2004) (noting it was proper during Rule 

12(b)(6) review to consider “publicly available [statistics] on the official redistricting website of 

the Virginia Division of Legislative Services.”) (citing Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 268 n. 1 

(1986) (“Although this case come to us on a motion to dismiss…, we are not precluded in our 

review of the complaint from taking notice of items in the public record…”).  The court may also 

consider documents attached to the complaint and those “attached to the motion to dismiss, so long 

as they are integral to the complaint and authentic.” Id. (citing Blankenship v. Manchin, 471 F. 3d 

523, 526 n. 1 (4th Cir. 2006)).  
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ARGUMENT 

The “FDCPA provides consumers with a private right of action where ‘(1) the plaintiff has 

been the object of collection activity arising from consumer debt; (2) the defendant is a debt 

collector as defined by the FDCPA; and (3) the defendant has engaged in an act or omission 

prohibited by the FDCPA.’”  Penn v. Cumberland, 883 F. Supp.2d 581, 587 (E.D. Va. 2012).  The 

FDCPA under section 1692(e) prohibits a “debt collector” from using “any false, deceptive, or 

misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 

1692(e).  Section 1692(e) provides a “non-exhaustive list of ‘conduct’ that falls within the general 

prohibition.” Laporte v. Midland Funding, LLC, No. 5:19-cv-000073, 2020 WL 2814184, * 3 

(W.D. Va. May 28, 2020)(citing § 1692e(1)-(16)). In considering whether a violation has occurred, 

courts apply the objective “least sophisticated consumer” standard.  United States v. Nat’l Servs., 

Inc., 98 F.3d 131, 135-36, 138-139 (4th Cir. 1996).  

With respect to its FDCPA claim, Plaintiff asserts violations of four specific subparts of § 

1692e.  Plaintiff alleges the Faber & Brand Defendants violated the FDCPA by: 

1. the use of allegedly false representations as to the character, amount, or 

legal status of the purported debt in violation of § 1692e(2)(A); 

2. the use or distribution of any written communication which simulates or is 

falsely represented to be a document authorized or issued by a Virginia General District 

Court, or which creates a false impression as to its source, authorization or approval in 

violation of § 1692e(9); 

3. the false representation or implication that documents are legal process in 

violation of § 1692e(13); and  
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4. generally, the use of false or misleading representations or deceptive means 

to collect or attempt to collect the alleged medical services debt in violation of § 1692e(10). 

Id. at ¶ 53.    

Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint fails to establish that the Faber & Brand Defendants 

violated any of these provisions of the FDCPA.   

A. Plaintiff Fails to Allege Any Act or Omission by Forrest That Can Give Rise 
to an FDPCA violation.  

 
Plaintiff fails to identify any act that Forrest committed or any statement he made to 

Plaintiff in connection with the collection of any debt.  Forrest did not sign the Warrant in Debt at 

issue in this case. ECF 32-1.  Plaintiff does not allege that she communicated with Forrest at any 

time regarding her debt.  Forrest is merely alleged to have appeared on behalf of the Hospital on 

June 2, 2020 at the return date for the Dinwiddie General District Court. Accordingly, Plaintiff has 

failed to state a claim against Forrest.  This Court should therefore dismiss the Complaint against 

him with prejudice. 

B.   Plaintiff Fails to Allege a Violation of the FDCPA by Buchanan and Faber & 
Brand. 

 
1. Plaintiff Fails to Allege a Plausible Claim for Violation of § 1692e(2)(A). 

 
  FDCPA § 1692e(2)(A) prohibits the false representation of “the character, amount, or 

legal status of any debt.”  15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A).  Plaintiff’s Complaint does not allege facts 

suggesting that the character or amount of the debt at issue in the Warrant in Debt is false or 

incorrect.  Apparently, Plaintiff asserts that because the Warrant in Debt was not issued by the 

General District Court Clerk, then the Warrant in Debt she received in the mail falsely stated the 

“status of the debt.”  Plaintiff’s claim is meritless.  

Case 3:21-cv-00030-DJN   Document 35   Filed 04/28/21   Page 13 of 25 PageID# 282



9 
 

 A misrepresentation as to the “status of the debt” occurs when the debt collector represents 

that the debt had not been satisfied, and thus was “legally due and owing,” when it was not because 

the debtor had paid her debt. Russell v. Absolute Collection Services, Inc., 763 F.3d 385, 395 (4th 

Cir. 2014).  Likewise, attempts to settle a debt that has been settled have been found to violate  

§ 1692e(2)(A). Yarney v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 929 F. Supp. 2d 569, 576 (W.D. Va. 2013) 

(citing Ross v. RJM Acquisitions Funding, LLC, 480 F.3d 493, 495 (7th Cir. 2007) (holding that a 

debt collector who demands payment from a debtor whose debts are discharged in bankruptcy 

makes a false claim and violates the statute); Vitullo v. Mancini, 684 F.Supp.2d 747, 758 (E.D.Va. 

2010) (finding debt collector's attempt to collect from a non-debtor spouse constituted a false 

statement actionable under the FDCPA)).  See also McCollough v. Johnson, Rodenburg & 

Lauinger, LLC, 637 F.3d 939, 949–50 (9th Cir.2011) (holding a debt collector violated FDCPA 

by seeking attorney's fees to which it was not entitled); Fetters v. Paragon Way, Inc., 2010 WL 

5174989, at *3–*4 (M.D.Pa. Dec. 15, 2010) (“[W]hen a debt collector asserts that there is an 

obligation to be paid, whether true or not, the protections of the FDCPA are triggered.”) (citations 

omitted). 

Plaintiff does not allege facts demonstrating that Buchanan or anyone else acting on behalf 

of Faber & Brand falsely asserted that a debt existed when it did not in the Warrant in Debt. 

Plaintiff does not allege that she had paid the debt when she received the Warrant in Debt, nor 

does she allege that the debt had been settled.  Indeed, she does not allege that the debt is not owed.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff fails to state a claim for violation of § 1692e(2)(A). 

2. Plaintiff Fails to Allege a Plausible Claim for Violation of § 1692e(9). 
 
Section 1692e(9) prohibits debt collectors from using a “written communication which 

simulates or is falsely represented to be a document authorized, issued, or approved by any court, 
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official, or agency of the United States or any State, or which creates a false impression as to its 

source, authorization, or approval.” 15 U.S.C § 1692e(9).   

The four corners of the Warrant in Debt attached to the Complaint defeats this claim.   

The Warrant in Debt form is approved by the Court.  The mailing of the document is 

authorized by law.  The Warrant in Debt mailed to Plaintiff did not falsely state that it had been 

issued by the Clerk.   

While Plaintiff selectively quotes from portions of the Warrant in Debt that she received 

in the mail, Plaintiff omits any reference to the first block in the Warrant in Debt, which has a 

block for the signature of the Court’s Clerk, Deputy Clerk or Magistrate, indicating that the 

Warrant in Debt has actually been issued by the Court. ECF 32-1.  That signature block is blank, 

thereby plainly indicating that the Warrant in Debt mailed to Plaintiff had not been issued by the 

Court. Id. The second page of the Warrant in Debt contains blocks where the manner of service of 

process would be indicated.  Those blocks are blank, plainly indicating that service has not been 

made.  Id. Finally, the Warrant in Debt plainly indicates that it is being mailed to Plaintiff by the 

Hospital’s attorney – not the court.   

Thus, there was no false representation that the Warrant in Debt had been issued by the 

General District Court Clerk.  While the FDCPA “protects uninformed consumers, the standard 

employed,” i.e., the least sophisticated consumer, “nevertheless protects creditors from ‘liability 

for bizarre or idiosyncratic interpretations of collection notices by preserving a quotient of 

reasonableness and presuming a basic level of understanding and willingness to read with care.’”  

Ramsay v. Sawyer Property Management of Maryland, LLC, 593 Fed. Appx. 204, 208 (4th Cir. 

2014)(quoting Ellis v. Solomon & Solomon, P.C., 591 F.3d 130, 135 (2d Cir. 2010)).   
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The “least sophisticated consumer” test requires a court to evaluate a communication “as a 

whole, not sentence-by-sentence, because the least sophisticated consumer standard ‘does not go 

so far as to provide solace to the willfully blind or non-observant.  Even the least sophisticated 

debtor is bound to read collection notices in their entirety.’” Vitullo v. Mancini, 684 F. Supp. 2d 

747, 756 (E.D.VA. 2010) (quoting Campuzano-Burgos v. Midland Credit Mgmt., 550 F.3d 294, 

298-99 (3d Cir. 2008)). In considering the entirety of the document, as is required, no consumer 

who read the Warrant in Debt with “care” would have been misled into believing the Clerk’s office 

had issued the Warrant in Debt when it was not signed by the Clerk and had not been served by 

the Sheriff’s office or a private process server.  See Ramsay, 593 Fed. Appx. At 209 (considering 

the context of the documents in their entirety).  

Moreover, the Warrant in Debt form is approved by the Court and Virginia law permits the 

plaintiff in the action to mail the defendant a copy of the Warrant in Debt before it is issued by 

General District Court Clerk. Va. Code § 8.01-296(2)(b).  As the Dinwiddie General District Court 

Clerk’s letter makes clear, Buchanan attempted to have the Clerk issue the subject Warrant in Debt, 

but the Clerk improperly rejected the filing not because of any defect or the failure to pay the 

appropriate filing fee and service fees, but due to the exigencies of the pandemic. Ex. 1. 

Accordingly, the Warrant in Debt did not “simulate[]” or “falsely represent[]” that it is 

authorized or issued by a court.  The mailed copy of the Warrant in Debt clearly indicated that it 

had not been issued by the court, and the mailing of the Warrant in Debt prior to its issuance by 

the Clerk and service by the Sheriff’s office is permitted by Virginia law.  Therefore, neither 

Buchanan nor Faber & Brand violated § 1692e(9), and this claim must be dismissed with prejudice. 
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3. Plaintiff Fails to Allege a Plausible Claim for Violation of § 1692e(13). 

 For the same reasons, Plaintiff’s claim that mailing the Warrant in Debt to her “falsely 

represented and implied that the Warrant in Debt was legal process … in violation of 15 U.S.C. 

1692e(13)” fails as a matter of law.   

 As noted by the Court in Biber v. Pioneer Credit Recovery, Inc., 229 F.Supp.3d 457, 470 

(E.D.Va. 2017), “most cases where courts have sustained a potential §1692e(13) claim involved 

allegations – not present in the instant case – (i) that the debt collectors’ correspondence was 

accompanied by actual service of process, (ii) that the debt collectors held out the correspondence 

as if it were a summons or complaint, or (iii) that the debt collectors’ correspondence carried the 

official imprimatur of a court or government agency.” (citations omitted). Typically, a §1692e(13) 

violation involves a debt collector’s “attempt to dress up an ordinary collection letter in the 

trappings of a judicial summons or complaint.”  Id. at 471 n. 20.   

 Here, the Warrant in Debt was mailed to Plaintiff, in accordance with Virginia law, with 

no other correspondence.  There is no allegation that Buchanan or Faber & Brand did anything to 

falsely state or imply that the mailing of the Warrant in Debt to Plaintiff constituted actual service 

of the Warrant in Debt.  The letter was not “served” by the Sheriff or any other purportedly official 

party.  To the contrary, the back portion of the Warrant in Debt, where the manner of service is to 

be designated, was left blank, as was the place for the Clerk’s signature on the front of the 

document.  Accordingly, Plaintiff has failed to state a claim for violation of § 1692e(13), and this 

claim must be dismissed with prejudice.  

4. Plaintiff Fails to Allege a Plausible Claim for Violation of § 1692e(10). 

   Likewise, Plaintiff has failed to state a claim against Buchanan and Faber & Brand for 

violation of § 1692e(10), which prohibits “the use of any false representation or deceptive means 
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to collect or attempt to collect any debt.”  15 U.S.C.§ 1692e(10).  The mailing of the Warrant in 

Debt did not falsely represent that the Hospital had retained Buchanan and Faber & Brand to collect 

the debt.  It had retained them to pursue a legal action, which they did.  Nor did its mailing falsely 

indicate that the Hospital intended to initiate a civil action in General District Court to collect the 

debt, because it had attempted to do so.  Under Virginia law, the Warrant in Debt was “filed” in 

the clerk’s office – notwithstanding the Clerk’s decision to return it to Faber & Brand. See 16.1-

86.  Moreover, a Warrant in Debt against Turner for the same debt was subsequently issued by the 

General District Court.  Ex. 3. 

 As noted by the Fourth Circuit, courts have found a violation of § 1692e(10) when debt 

collectors falsely represent that “unpaid debts would be referred to an attorney for immediate legal 

action.” United States v. National Financial Services, Inc., 98 F.3d 131, 138-39 (4th Cir. 

1996)(citing Jeter v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 760 F.2d 1168, 1175 (11th Cir. 1985)).  Likewise, false 

threats that legal action would be taken violates § 1692e(10). Id.; see also  Talbott v. GC Servs. Ltd. 

P'ship, 53 F.Supp.2d 846, 852 n. 2 (W.D.Va.1999) (“[c]ases where the courts have found 

§1692e(10) in addition to § 1692g violations have generally been where the letter issued falsely 

threatened legal action or threatened to make immediate credit reports). 

 Here, there was no empty threat of filing.  Buchanan attempted to have the Clerk issue the 

Warrant in Debt, which attempt was thwarted as a result of the extraordinary circumstances of the 

pandemic. Ex. 1 and 2. A subsequent filing of the Warrant in Debt against the Plaintiff, however, 

was accepted by the Dinwiddie General District Court.  Ex. 3. Thus, there is no false representation 

that the Hospital intended to pursue legal action to collect its debt, which it did pursue.   

 Accordingly, Plaintiff has failed to state a claim for violation of the FDCPA, and Count 

One should be dismissed with prejudice.  
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5. The Faber and Brand Defendants Had No Duty to Tell Plaintiff that the 
Dinwiddie General District Court Clerk had Returned the Warrant in Debt. 

 
Even if it can be assumed that before June 2, 2020, the Faber & Brand Defendants had 

received the Clerk’s letter, and thus, had knowledge that the Clerk for the Dinwiddie General 

District Court had returned the Warrant in Debt naming Turner as a Defendant (notwithstanding 

the impact the pandemic had on mail delivery, the fact that people were working from home, and 

the fact that the court had certain of the Hospital’s cases on its docket), the FDCPA does not impose 

any duty on debt collectors to correct statements that were true when made. 

As discussed above, when Plaintiff received the Warrant in Debt through the mail, the 

Faber & Brand Defendants had attempted to file the Warrant in Debt with the General District 

Court Clerk, and had set a return date for June 2, 2020. The Warrant in Debt mailed to Plaintiff 

did not purport to be issued by the Clerk, nor did it purport to have been served by proper process.  

Moreover, the Warrant in Debt properly evidenced the debt that Plaintiff owed. In short, there was 

no misrepresentation in the communication.   

Section 1692e proscribes false or deceptive communications with debtors when the 

communication is made. As explained by one court, “[t]he gist of § 1692e is that ‘where some 

aspect of a debt collector’s communication – whether explicit or implied – has the purpose or effect 

of making a debtor more likely to respond, the FDCPA requires it to be true.’” Sparks v. Phillips 

& Cohen Assoc., Ltd., 641 F. Supp.2d 1234, 1248 (S.D. Ala. 2008)(quoting Campuzano-Burgos 

v. Midland Credit Management, 497 F.Supp.2d 660, 665 (E.D.Pa. 2007)).   

Thus, the Warrant in Debt stated true facts as the Faber & Brand Defendants knew them to 

be when it was mailed to Plaintiff.  Accordingly, the FDCPA was not violated.  
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 C. Plaintiff’s Fraud Claim Fails as a Matter of Law.  

In Count Four, Plaintiff cites to Norris v Mitchell, 255 Va. 235, 240 (1998) for the 

proposition that a “party’s willful nondisclosure of a material fact that he knows is unknown to the 

other party may evince an intent to practice actual fraud.”  ECF 32, at ¶ 94. Plaintiff then attempts 

to construct her allegations to fit that legal principle, asserting in conclusory fashion that “[b]e 

[sic] sending the Warrants in Debt and then concealing that no such action were actually filed[,] 

Defendants falsely represented that Plaintiff … had been sued, when in fact no such legal actions 

had been instituted.”  Id. at ¶ 95. Plaintiff asserts that the Faber & Brand Defendants mailed the 

Warrant in Debt to Plaintiff and then “did not inform Plaintiff … that [it] had been rejected with 

the intent that Plaintiff … would rely on [it], intending that they would think that an action had 

been filed against [her], and then be concerned about that action.” Id. at ¶ 98.    

Plaintiff’s fraud claim fails as a matter of law.  Under Virginia law, consistent with Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 9, “[f]Fraud, since it must be clearly proved, must be distinctly alleged.’” Sweely Holdings, 

LLC v. SunTrust Bank, 296 Va. 367, 382, 820 S.E.2d 596, 603 (2018)(quoting Welfley v. 

Shenandoah Iron, Lumber, Mining & Mfg. Co., 83 Va. 768, 771, 3 S.E. 376 (1887) (citation 

omitted)). “‘It will not do to state it argumentatively. The charge must be direct as the proof must 

be clear.’” Id. (quoting Alsop, Mosby & Co. v. Catlett & Jenkins, 97 Va. 364, 370, 34 S.E. 48 

(1899)). “For these reasons, allegations of fraud in a complaint ‘must show, specifically and in 

detail,’ all elements of the cause of action at a level which, if believed, would qualify as clear and 

convincing proof. ‘Generalized, nonspecific allegations ... are insufficient to state a 

valid claim of fraud.’” Id.  (citations omitted).  

The elements of a fraud claim are well established.  The state a claim for fraud, Plaintiff 

must allege and prove a “false representation, of a material fact, made intentionally and knowingly, 

Case 3:21-cv-00030-DJN   Document 35   Filed 04/28/21   Page 20 of 25 PageID# 289

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1887164135&pubNum=0000784&originatingDoc=If2e0cf10edab11e8aec5b23c3317c9c0&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_784_771&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_784_771
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1887164135&pubNum=0000784&originatingDoc=If2e0cf10edab11e8aec5b23c3317c9c0&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_784_771&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_784_771
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1899009886&pubNum=0000710&originatingDoc=If2e0cf10edab11e8aec5b23c3317c9c0&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_710_370&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_710_370
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1899009886&pubNum=0000710&originatingDoc=If2e0cf10edab11e8aec5b23c3317c9c0&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_710_370&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_710_370


16 
 

with intent to mislead, reliance by the party misled, and resulting damage.” Yuzefovsky v. St. John’s 

Wood Apartments, 261 Va. 97, 111, 540 S.E.2d 134, 143 (2001).  

Plaintiff’s fraud claim fails because there was no “false representation of fact.”  The Faber 

& Brand Defendants did not falsely represent that an action had been or was to be commenced 

against Plaintiff.  As shown above, when Faber & Brand transmitted the Warrant in Debt to the 

clerk, it was “brought” under Virginia law, and thus, the whole basis for the fraud claim fails.  Va. 

Code § 16. 1-86.  Even though the Clerk improperly returned the Warrant in Debt to Faber & 

Brand, a subsequent Warrant in Debt was accepted by the Clerk and that action is proceeding 

against the Plaintiff. 

Moreover, the face of the Warrant in Debt does not make any assertion that in fact the 

Clerk had issued the Warrant in Debt.  To the contrary, the Warrant in Debt reveals only that 

Plaintiff’s counsel was mailing her a copy of the Warrant in Debt that counsel intended to file with 

the General District Court, which of course is permitted by Virginia law. This intent is made 

evident by the fact that the Warrant in Debt had not been signed by the General District Court 

Clerk, and there was no service of the Warrant in Debt.   

At most, the mailing of the Warrant in Debt evidences an intent to obtain issuance of the 

Warrant in Debt by the Clerk’s office and to have it served. Thus, to properly allege fraud, Plaintiff 

must allege specific facts establishing that when Buchanan mailed the Warrant in Debt to Plaintiff, 

he did not have the present intent to have the Warrant in Debt issued by the Dinwiddie General 

District Court.   

To be actionable, fraud “must involve a misrepresentation of a present or a pre-existing 

fact, fraud ordinarily cannot be predicated on unfulfilled promises or statements regarding future 

events.”  Supervalu, Inc. v. Johnson, 276 Va. 356, 367, 666 S.E.2d 335, 342 (2008)(citations 
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omitted).  It is well-established that a “‘promisor’s intention – his state of mind – is a matter of 

fact.’” Radiance Capital Receivables Fourteen, LLC v. Foster, 298 Va. 14, 24, 833 S.E.2d 867, 

871 (2019) (quoting Colonial Ford Truck Sales, Inc. v. Schneider, 228 Va. 671, 677, 325 S.E.2d 

91 (1985)).  

Plaintiff has not, and indeed, cannot allege that Buchanan did not have the present intention 

to file the Warrant in Debt with the General District Court when he mailed Plaintiff a copy of the 

Warrant in Debt.  To the contrary, at approximately the same time Buchanan mailed Plaintiff the 

Warrant in Debt, Buchanan also made an attempt to have the Clerk issue the Warrant in Debt, but 

the Clerk returned it due to the restrictions placed on the General District Court due to the Covid-

19 pandemic.  ECF 32-1. 

In the face of these insurmountable hurdles to her fraud claim, Plaintiff asserts a 

concealment theory that has no application to this case.  Concealment, as a species of fraud, arises 

when one party to a transaction conceals a material fact from the other party to the transaction.  As 

explained by the Supreme Court of Virginia in Van Deusen v. Snead, 247 Va. 324, 328, 247 S.E.2d 

at 209 (1994): “‘For purposes of an action for fraud, concealment, whether accomplished by words 

or conduct, may be the equivalent of a false representation, because concealment always involves 

deliberate nondisclosure designed to prevent another from learning the truth.  A contracting 

party’s willful nondisclosure of a material fact that he knows is unknown to the other party may 

evince an intent to practice actual fraud.’” (quoting Spence v. Griffin, 236 Va. 21, 372 S.E.2d 595, 

598-599 (1988)(citations omitted))(emphasis added). “‘Concealment is an affirmative act intended 

to be likely to keep another from learning a fact of which he would otherwise have learned.  Such 

affirmative act is always the equivalent to a misrepresentation….’” Id. (quoting Restatement 

(Second) of Contracts § 160 (1979)(emphasis added)); Devine v. Buki, 289 Va. 162, 176, 767 
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S.E.2d 459, 466 (2015)(“If a party conceals a fact that is material to the transaction, knowing that 

the other party is acting on the assumption that no such fact exists, the concealment is as much a 

fraud as if the existence of the fact were expressly denied, or the reverse of it expressly 

stated.”)(citations omitted). 

Plaintiff has not alleged that she entered into a “transaction” with the Faber & Brand 

Defendants.  She did not settle or pay her debt, much less communicate with the Faber & Brand 

Defendants.  Moreover, Plaintiff has failed to plead any “active concealment or any other 

affirmative action intending to deceive them.”  Modern Oil v. Cannady, No. 141839, 2015 WL 

10990113, at * 5 (Va. Dec. 30, 2015)(unpublished).  Thus, there was no concealment, much less 

one of a material fact. 

Furthermore, “silence alone, absent a duty to speak, is generally not treated as an 

affirmative representation of anything.” Wooten v. Bank of America, N.A., 290 Va. 306, 311, 777 

S.E.2d 848, 851 (2015)(citation omitted); see Commonwealth, Dept. of Labor and Industry v. E.A. 

Clore Sons, Inc., 281 S.E.2d 901, 904, 281 S.E.2d 901, 904 (1981)(“Silence, however, cannot 

constitute fraud or misrepresentation unless ‘there is a legal or moral duty to speak or where an 

inquiry left unanswered would be intentionally misleading.’”)(citations omitted).   

 It is also well-settled that “to establish fraud, it is essential that the defrauded party 

demonstrates the right to reasonably rely upon the misrepresentation,” which is an element of fraud 

sometimes labeled “justifiable reliance.” Sweely Holdings, LLC v. SunTrust Bank, 296 Va. 367, 

383, 820 S.E.2d 596, 605 (2018)( citing Murayma 1997 Tr. v. NISC Holdings, LLC, 284 Va. 234, 

246, 727 S.E.2d 80 (2012) (emphasis and citation omitted).  Without such justifiable reliance, “no 

fraud is established.” Id. Furthermore, reliance will not be justified, when the complaining party 

“undertakes an investigation regarding the matter at issue. Upon undertaking such an investigation, 
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the buyer is charged with the knowledge the investigation reveals, or, if the investigation was 

incomplete, the knowledge that would have been revealed had the investigation been pursued 

diligently to the end.” Beck v. Smith, 260 Va. 452, 457, 538 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2000)(citations 

omitted). 

 Here, Plaintiff retained counsel.  Notwithstanding that even under a least sophisticated 

consumer standard, a person reading the Warrant in Debt would know that it had not been issued 

by the Court, a lawyer licensed in Virginia would know that the mere mailing of a Warrant in Debt 

that has not been issued by the Court does not compel a party to appear in court much less evidence 

that in fact a legal proceeding had been filed or instituted in the court.   

 Accordingly, the Court should dismiss the Fraud claim with prejudice.  

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, this Court should dismiss the Amended Complaint against 

the Faber & Brand Defendants with prejudice. 

Dated: April 28, 2021     Respectfully submitted,    

FABER & BRAND LLC,  
JARED L. BUCHANAN  
AND JEREMY FORREST 
 
/s/   Charles M. Sims   
Charles M. Sims (VSB No. 35845) 
C. Quinn Adams (VSB No. 90506) 
O’HAGAN MEYER, PLLC 
411 East Franklin Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
Telephone: (804) 403-7100 
Facsimile: (804) 403-7110 
CSims@ohaganmeyer.com  
CAdams@ohaganmeyer.com  
 
Counsel for Faber & Brand. LLC,  
Jared L. Buchanan and Jeremey Forrest 
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